S281488

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE) No
OF CALIFORNIA,)
) (Court of Appeal,
Plaintiff and Respondent,) Fourth Appellate
) District, Div. 2,
V.) No. E080032)
)
OSCAR LOPEZ,) (San Bernardino
) Co. Superior
Defendant and Appellant) Court No.
) FWV1404692)

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, HONORABLE BRIDGID MCCANN, JUDGE PRESIDING

> RACHEL VARNELL (State Bar #197649) P.O. Box 799 Los Gatos, California 95031 650-483-4248 rachv2002@yahoo.com

> > Attorney for Petitioner, OSCAR LOPEZ

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was appellant's right to due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments violated because the evidence is insufficient to support the gang enhancement attached to count five, where no evidence was presented that the predicate offenses benefitted the gang in a way that was more than reputational?

2. Should appellant's case have been remanded for resentencing pursuant to Senate Bill Number 567 because the trial court imposed upper terms with no aggravating facts admitted by appellant or found true by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt?

3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to strike the Penal Code section 12022.53, subdivisions (c) and (d) enhancements pursuant to Senate Bill Number 81?

<u>REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW</u> <u>Assembly Bill Number 333</u>

As to the first issue, in the published portion of its opinion, the Court of Appeal held that appellant was entitled to the ameliorative benefits of Assembly Bill Number 333 (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 3, eff. Jan. 1, 2022), as the judgment against him was not final. (Exhibit A, p. 2.) However, because the Court of Appeal had originally reversed and remanded appellant's case to the trial court "solely with respect to the sentence and directed the trial court to resentence" appellant, it concluded the trial court "did not have jurisdiction to reconsider the gang enhancement." (Ibid.) In so holding, the Court of Appeal relied on dictum from *People v. Padilla* (2022) 13 Cal.5th 152, a case that did not involve Assembly Bill Number 333 or an ameliorative change in the law as to guilt, but instead the application of Proposition 57 to a juvenile's sentence after it was vacated in a habeas corpus proceeding. (Exhibit A, p. 10; *Padilla*, *supra*, 13 Cal.5th at pp. 160-163.)

Review is warranted on this issue for a number of reasons. This portion of the opinion is published, it is a split opinion (see Exhibit A, diss. opn. of Raphael, J.), and it creates a split of authority with *People v. Salgado* (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 376, which held Assembly Bill Number 333 applied to a defendant who was resentenced under former section 1170. (*Id.* at p. 380.)

As noted in the dissenting opinion, however, it is not even necessary to reach *People v. Padilla* and *People v. Salgado*, as appellant's case was never reduced to a final judgment. (Exhibit A, diss. opn. of Raphael, J., at p. 3.) *Padilla* and *Salgado*, in contrast, were reopened following postjudgment proceedings. (*Padilla, supra*, 13 Cal.5th at pp. 160-163; *Salgado, supra*, 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 378.) Additionally, *In re Estrada* (1966) 63 Cal.2d 740 "presumed that our Legislature intends for ameliorative enactments to apply as broadly as is constitutionally permissible. The significance of finality was that legislation 'constitutionally could apply' to nonfinal judgments." (*People v. Esquivel* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 671, 677.) Based on *Estrada*'s holding, Assembly Bill Number 333 should apply to appellant's case, which resulted from a resentencing following an original appeal.

Even assuming *People v. Padilla* and *People v. Salgado* are applicable to appellant's case, the "crucial passage" of *Padilla*, relied heavily on by the Court of Appeal (Exhibit A, p. 10), was specific to the facts of *Padilla*. In response to the Attorney General's argument that vacatur of a defendant's sentence does not allow a resentencing court to consider new claims or affect any part of the judgment other than the sentence, *Padilla* noted, in the context of Proposition 57, that whatever potential a juvenile transfer hearing might have for reducing the juvenile defendant's punishment, "it does not authorize or constitute relitigation of guilt." (*Padilla, supra,* 13 Cal.5th at pp. 169-170.)

Because Proposition 57 is not an ameliorative change as to guilt, *Padilla* was correct that relitigating guilt *under Prop* 57 would have been improper. *Padilla*, however, did not address ameliorative changes that do affect guilt issues. *Salgado*, in contrast, did specifically address the application of Assembly Bill

Number 333 to a postjudgment proceeding and, relying on *Padilla*, it concluded its defendant was "entitled to the benefit of Assem. Bill 333 because his criminal judgment is no longer final," following recall and resentencing pursuant to Penal Code section 1170. (*Salgado, supra,* 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 378.)

Lastly, in separating finality from jurisdiction, the Court of Appeal's opinion creates an unworkable framework for the trial courts and practitioners who, since *Estrada*, have focused on whether a judgment is final to determine retroactivity. In separating finality from jurisdiction, the Court of Appeal's opinion will lead to confusion amongst all lower courts. Where the Court of Appeal's split opinion also creates a published conflict with *People v. Salgado*, review is warranted to provide guidance to the Courts of Appeal and the trial courts on this issue.

Senate Bill Number 567

As to the second issue, the Court of Appeal concluded the trial court erred in finding the aggravating circumstances true based on the probation report, rather than a certified record of conviction, but it found the error was not prejudicial, citing *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818. Currently pending before this Court is *People v. Lynch* (2022) 2022 WL 1702283 (rev. granted 08/10/2022 [S274942]), which will determine the following: What prejudice standard applies on appeal when determining whether a case should be remanded for resentencing in light of newly-enacted Senate Bill No. 567 (Stats. 2021, ch. 731)? (Cal. Supreme Court Case Summary, Case No. S274942.)

Because the applicable standard of prejudice is currently pending before this Court, this Court should issue a "grant and hold" order pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.512(d)(2).

Senate Bill Number 81

As to the third issue, while the Court of Appeal agreed the mitigating factor of multiple enhancements (Pen. Code, § 1385, subd. (c)(2)(B)) was applicable here, it disagreed that dismissal of one of the two firearm enhancements was mandatory, citing *People v. Anderson* (2023) 88 Cal.App.5th 233 (rev. granted 4/19/2023 [S278786]) and *People v. Walker* (2022) 86 Cal.App.5th 386 (rev. granted 3/22/2023 [S278309]). (Exhibit A, p. 18.) Both *Walker* and *Anderson* are currently pending before this Court, and *Walker* will decide the following:

Does the amendment to Penal Code section 1385, subdivision (c) that requires trial courts to "afford great weight" to enumerated mitigating circumstances (Stats. 2021, ch. 721) create a rebuttable presumption in favor of dismissing an enhancement unless the trial court finds dismissal would endanger public safety?

(Cal. Supreme Court, Case Summary, Case No. S278309.) Because the issue of whether a rebuttable presumption is created in favor of dismissing an enhancement is currently pending before this Court, this Court should issue a "grant and hold" order pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.512(d)(2).

For all of these reasons and because this case presents legal issues of statewide importance (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1)), this Court should grant review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

For purposes of this petition only and except as otherwise noted, the beginning of the opinion of the Court of Appeal, including the introduction and the sections headed "Statement of Facts" and "Statement of the Case," as supplemented by any factual matters and procedural details described herein, adequately summarizes the facts and the procedural posture of this case. (Exhibit A, pp. 3-4.)

On July 25, 2023, in a published portion of its opinion, the Court of Appeal held the trial court did not have jurisdiction to reconsider the gang enhancement. (Exhibit A, p. 2.) In the unpublished portion of the opinion, it affirmed the trial court's judgment. (*Ibid*.)

ARGUMENT

I. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO DETERMINE WHETHER, PURSUANT TO ASSEMBLY BILL NUMBER 333, APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS UNDER THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS WAS VIOLATED BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE GANG ENHANCEMENT ATTACHED TO COUNT FIVE, WHERE NO EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED THAT THE PREDICATE OFFENSES BENEFITTED THE GANG IN A WAY THAT WAS MORE THAN REPUTATIONAL

Prior to the resentencing hearing, the prosecutor filed a sentencing brief in which she argued Assembly Bill Number 333 did not apply to such a hearing. (CT 80-82.) Because appellant's judgment was final when Assembly Bill Number 333 went into effect on January 1, 2022, the prosecutor argued, appellant could not "avail himself of AB 333 at his resentencing hearing." (CT 83.)

At the resentencing hearing, defense counsel argued the evidence was insufficient to support the gang enhancement:

[I]n AB 333, the common benefit of the gang must be more than reputational. What the DA needs to prove is the crimes were committed for a pattern, from a pattern of criminal gang activity and the crimes benefit a gang and the common benefit must be more than reputational.

Therefore I think we need to strike any gang enhancements because I don't believe it was more than reputational.

(RT 28.)

The trial court denied defense counsel's request, finding

Assembly Bill Number 333 inapplicable to resentencing hearings:

The Court does believe that [*Padilla, supra,* 13 Cal.5th 152] is more appropriate to follow in this case than [*Salgado, supra,* 82 Cal.App.5th 376]. This is a situation where we are dealing with a sentencing scheme, not proof in this case. The Court of Appeal did render an opinion. The remittitur was as to the sentence errors that the Court did, not as to the substantive evidence in this case.

And as such, I am not inclined to either order a new trial for the 186.22 or apply the new law for the 186.22.

(RT 31-32.)

"Whether a statute operates prospectively or retroactively is, at least in the first instance, a matter of legislative intent. When the Legislature has not made its intent on the matter clear with respect to a particular statute, the Legislature's generally applicable declaration in section 3 provides the default rule: 'No part of [the Penal Code] is retroactive, unless expressly so declared." (*People v. Brown* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 314, 319.)

However, under *Estrada, supra*, 63 Cal.2d 740, "[w]hen the Legislature amends a statute so as to lessen the punishment it has obviously expressly determined that its former penalty was too severe and that a lighter punishment is proper as punishment for the commission of the prohibited act." (*Id.* at pp. 744-745.) As Assembly Bill 333's amendments to section 186.22 "increased the threshold for conviction under the gang enhancement statute" (*People v. Ramirez* (2022) 79 Cal.App.5th 48, 64, rev. granted 08/17/2022 [S275341]), a defendant whose conviction is not yet final is entitled to the retroactive application of those amendments. (*Ibid.*; *People v. Delgado* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 1067, 1087; *People v. Ramos* (2022) 77 Cal.App.5th 1116, 1126-1127; *People v. Sek* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 657, 666-667.)

The Court of Appeal found that appellant's case was not yet final and he was therefore "entitled to the ameliorative benefits of A.B. 333." (Exhibit A, p. 2.) Nonetheless, because appellant's original case had been "reversed solely with respect to the sentence" and the trial court was directed only to resentence appellant, it held the trial court "did not have *jurisdiction* to reconsider the gang enhancement." (*Ibid.*, emphasis added.)

In so holding, the majority relied on *People v. Padilla*, which held a judgment against a juvenile defendant became nonfinal when his sentence was vacated in a habeas corpus proceeding. (*Padilla, supra*, 13 Cal.5th at pp. 160-163.) It thus found Proposition 57 applicable to the defendant, reasoning that "[w]hen Padilla's sentence was vacated, the trial court regained the jurisdiction and duty to consider what punishment was appropriate for him, and Padilla regained the right to appeal whatever new sentence was imposed." (*Id.* at pp. 161-162.)

Because the judgment in the defendant's case had "thus became nonfinal," there was "no constitutional obstacle to applying the *Estrada* presumption to his case." (*Padilla, supra,* 13 Cal.5th at p. 162, internal citations and quotation marks omitted.) In response to the Attorney General's argument that applying Proposition 57 to defendants whose sentences are vacated would be inconsistent with principles that "limit the scope of subsequent modification of a judgment after initial finality," *Padilla* noted as follows: "Whatever potential that [transfer] hearing [in a juvenile court] may have for reducing his punishment (the nonfinal part of his judgment), it does not authorize or constitute relitigation of guilt." (*Id.* at pp. 169-170.)

The Court of Appeal found this "crucial passage" of *Padilla* "provides the key to deciding this case." (Exhibit A, p. 10.) "In it, the Supreme Court accepted that the vacation of a sentence would not authorize the relitigation of guilt -- even if the conviction is nonfinal and an amendment ameliorating guilt has gone into effect." (*Ibid*.)

It would have been easier for *Padilla* to say that, as long as a conviction is nonfinal, an amendment ameliorating guilt *always* authorizes the relitigation of guilt -- if that is the law. Why was it careful instead to note that its opinion was not authorizing the relitigation of guilt?

(*Ibid.*, emphasis original.)

Because Padilla's conviction had been affirmed, the Court of Appeal noted, and "only the sentence had been vacated, the trial court did not have *jurisdiction* to readjudicate the conviction. The Supreme Court implicitly acknowledged this, but pointed out that Proposition 57 did not require adjudication of the conviction." (Exhibit A, p. 11, emphasis original.) Here, where appellant's conviction was affirmed and only the sentence was reversed and remanded with directions to resentence appellant, the Court of Appeal accepted that on remand, appellant "was fully entitled the ameliorative benefits of A.B. 333. However, those benefits consisted of the redefinition of a gang enhancement, *which was irrelevant to anything the trial court had jurisdiction to do.*" (*Ibid.*, emphasis original.)

In so holding, the Court of Appeal declined to follow *People* v. Salgado, which involved the application of Assembly Bill Number 333 to a recall and resentencing under former Penal Code section 1170 and held a defendant "is entitled to the benefit of Assem. Bill 333 because his criminal judgment is no longer final following the recall and resentencing." (Salgado, supra, 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 378.) In Salgado, the defendant argued Assembly Bill Number 333 applied retroactively to his case and therefore his conviction on the substantive gang offense and gang enhancements must be reversed because the jury "was not asked and thus did not make the newly required factual determinations under Assem. Bill 333." (*Id.* at p. 380.)

The Attorney General argued Assembly Bill Number 333 did not apply because the defendant's conviction and

enhancements "were final long before the enactment of Assem. Bill 333." (*Salgado, supra,* 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 380.) *Salgado* was "not persuaded." (*Ibid.*) Citing *Padilla, Salgado* noted when the defendant was resentenced under former section 1170, his criminal judgment was "no longer final": "[O]nce a court has determined that a defendant is entitled to resentencing, the result is vacatur of the original sentence, whereupon the trial court may impose any appropriate sentence." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Padilla, supra,* 13 Cal.5th at p. 163.)

However, the Court of Appeal declined to follow *Salgado* because it "did not discuss the crucial passage in *Padilla*; it also did not consider the argument the Attorney General made in *Padilla* that a conviction may not be relitigated when only the sentence is vacated." (Exhibit A, p. 12.)

A. Assembly Bill Number 333 is Applicable to Appellant's Case because his Conviction was Never Reduced to a Final Judgment.

"In criminal actions, the terms 'judgment' and 'sentence' are generally considered 'synonymous,' and there is no 'judgment of conviction' without a sentence." (*People v. McKenzie* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 40, 46, internal quotation marks and citations omitted.) "Moreover, in *Estrada*, we also referred to the cutoff point for application of ameliorative amendments as the date when the 'case[]' or 'prosecution[]' is reduced to final judgment." (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks and citations omitted.) An amendatory statute applies in "any [criminal] *proceeding* [that], at the time of the supervening legislation, has not yet reached final disposition in the highest court authorized to review it." (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks omitted, emphasis original.)

As noted in the dissenting opinion, appellant's case here was never reduced to final judgment, "so A.B. 33 applies retroactively to it." (Exhibit A, diss. opn. of Raphael, J., at p. 3.) There is a "single moment of finality for retroactivity purposes, and that is when the case as a whole comes to an end." (*Ibid.*) Appellant was originally sentenced on January 19, 2018. (CT 50-53.) Appellant appealed, and the Court of Appeal found the trial court violated Penal Code section 654 in imposing a sentence for count three and remanded with directions to consider striking the prior serious felony conviction enhancements and the firearm enhancements. (CT 92, 94.) On October 13, 2022, years after remittitur issued, the trial court resentenced appellant, and the case at issue here is appellant's appeal from that resentencing. (CT 142.) Because appellant was finally sentenced at the resentencing hearing that is the subject of this appeal, his case has never been reduced to a final judgment. (See *McKenzie*, *supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 46.)

Additionally, "*Estrada* presumed that our Legislature intends for ameliorative enactments to apply as broadly as is constitutionally permissible. The significance of finality was that legislation 'constitutionally could apply' to nonfinal judgments." (*Esquivel, supra,* 11 Cal.5th at p. 677.)

When the Legislature amends a statute so as to lessen the punishment[,] it has obviously expressly determined that its former penalty was too severe and that a lighter punishment is proper as punishment for the commission of the prohibited act. It is an inevitable inference that the Legislature must have intended that the new statute imposing the new lighter penalty now deemed to be sufficient should apply to every case to which it constitutionally could apply. The amendatory act imposing the lighter punishment can be applied constitutionally to acts committed before its passage provided the judgment convicting the defendant of the act is not final. This intent seems obvious, because to hold otherwise would be to conclude that the Legislature was motivated by a desire for vengeance, a conclusion not permitted in view of modern theories of penology.

(*Estrada*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at p. 744.) Based on *Estrada's* holding that ameliorative enactments should apply to every case to which they constitutionally could apply, Assembly Bill Number 333 should apply in this case, where "[t]his case is still on direct appeal, even though it is the second appeal after remand. The case has not been reduced to a final judgment." (Exhibit A, diss. opn. of Raphael, J., at p. 4.)

Thus, it is not even necessary to analyze appellant's case under *Padilla* and *Salgado*, which were reopened following postjudgment proceedings. In *Padilla*, the juvenile defendant's sentence was vacated in a habeas corpus proceeding. (*Padilla*, *supra*, 13 Cal.5th at pp. 160-163.) *Salgado* involved recall and resentencing under former Penal Code section 1170. (*Salgado*, *supra*, 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 378.) Here, "this case has never become final, so it has never been reopened." (Exhibit A, diss. opn. of Raphael, J., at p. 7.)

B. Assembly Bill Number 333 is Applicable to Appellant's Case, Despite the Fact that it was Remanded for Resentencing.

The Court of Appeal held while appellant's case was not yet final, the trial court lacked *jurisdiction* to apply Assembly Bill Number 333 because the case was remanded for resentencing only. (Exhibit A, pp. 10-11.) In so holding, as previously noted, the majority relied on the following language from *Padilla*: "Whatever potential that [transfer] hearing [in a juvenile court] may have for reducing his punishment (the nonfinal part of his judgment), it does not authorize or constitute relitigation of guilt." (*Padilla, supra,* 13 Cal.5th at pp. 169-170.)

Padilla involved the application of Proposition 57 after a juvenile's sentence was vacated in a habeas corpus proceeding (Padilla, supra, 13 Cal.5th at pp. 160-163), and Proposition 57 ameliorated "the possible punishment for a class of persons, namely juveniles" -- not criminal liability (People v. Superior Court (Lara) (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299, 308). Because Proposition 57 is not an ameliorative change as to guilt, Padilla was correct that relitigating guilt under Prop 57 would have been improper. Padilla, however, did not address ameliorative changes that do affect guilt issues.

This Court has already indicated what the proper course is when an ameliorative change affects guilt issues and the case is set for a full resentencing. In *People v. Valenzuela* (2019) 7 Cal.5th 415, a grand theft conviction was reduced to a misdemeanor petty theft conviction under Proposition 47. (*Id.* at pp. 426-427.) This Court held the trial court could not reimpose a substantive gang offense based on the petty theft conviction at the full resentencing that followed. (*Id.* at p. 427.) Instead, under *Estrada*, the trial court was required to apply ameliorative changes to the counts of conviction where applicable:

It is more reasonable, in light of the limited retroactivity rule of *Estrada*, . . . which presumes that ameliorative changes in the criminal laws were intended to be applied to cases with nonfinal judgments, to conclude that the felonious character of this conduct is susceptible to reassessment as may be appropriate in light of pertinent developments affecting the criminal codes, so long as the judgment is nonfinal or validly reopened.

(*Id.* at p. 428.)

Here, the Court of Appeal found it would have been "easier for *Padilla* to say that, as long as a conviction is nonfinal, an amendment ameliorating guilt *always* authorizes the relitigation of guilt -- if that is the law." (Exhibit A, p. 10, emphasis original.) To the contrary, this was not necessary for *Padilla* to state because, again, *Padilla* did not involve an ameliorative change in the law as to guilt.

Additionally, while appellant's case was remanded with directions to only resentence appellant, *People v. Salgado* addressed the application of Assembly Bill Number 333 at a resentencing hearing and held a defendant "is entitled to the benefit of Assem. Bill 333 because his criminal judgment is no longer final following the recall and resentencing." (*Salgado, supra*, 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 378.) The Court of Appeal declined to follow *Salgado*, thus creating a published conflict amongst the Courts of Appeal, because it "did not discuss the crucial passage in *Padilla*." (Exhibit A, p. 12.) There was no need for *Salgado* to do so, however, because *Salgado* did not involve Proposition 57 but instead involved an ameliorative change as to guilt under Assembly Bill Number 333.

Finally, the Court of Appeal's decision, in seeking to narrow jurisdiction in some cases, creates an unworkable framework for trial courts and practitioners, who, since *Estrada*, have focused on whether a judgment is final, which presents a clear test of retroactivity. The limited retroactivity rule of *Estrada* does not make a distinction between finality and jurisdiction but instead presumes ameliorative changes in criminal laws were intended to be applied to cases with nonfinal judgments. (*Valenzuela, supra,* 7 Cal.5th at p. 428.) For example, this Court held that to determine retroactivity in criminal law "a legislative body ordinarily intends for ameliorative changes to the criminal law to extend as broadly as possible, distinguishing *only* as necessary *between sentences that are final and sentences that are not.*" (*Lara, supra,* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299, 308, emphasis added.)

Additionally, there will be confusion as to which statutes allow for ameliorative changes following a resentencing. For example, as to defendants who have their sentences vacated due to Senate Bill Number 1437, Penal Code section 1172.6 requires those defendants to be "resentenced as if they have not been sentenced before." (Pen. Code, § 1172.6, subd. (d)(1).) Thus, the framework put forth by the majority, which allows for cases that are not yet final but in which the trial courts lack jurisdiction to apply ameliorative changes to the law, is simply not workable.

C. The Evidence is Insufficient to Prove the Gang Enhancement.

Due process requires that no person suffer a criminal conviction unless there is sufficient proof -- evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of every element of the offense. (*Jackson v. Virginia* (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 319.) Here, the evidence is insufficient to support the gang enhancement attached to count five because no evidence was presented that the predicate offenses benefitted the gang in a way that was more than reputational, which is now required pursuant to Assembly Bill Number 333. (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (e)(1).)

Prior to the enactment of Assembly Bill Number 333, the "criminal street gang" component of a gang enhancement required proof of three essential elements: "(1) that there be an ongoing association involving three or more participants, having a common name or common identifying sign or symbol; (2) that the group has as one of its primary activities the commission of one or more specified crimes; and (3) the group's members either separately or as a group have engaged in a pattern of criminal gang activity." (*In re Alexander L.* (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 605, 610–611.)

Penal Code section 186.22 has new requirements for establishing liability. (Assem. Bill No. 333, Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 3.) Predicate offenses must be shown to have "commonly benefited" the alleged gang, and the common benefit must have been "more than reputational." (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd.

(e)(1).) Currently charged offenses no longer qualify (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (e)(2)), and at least one predicate offense must have been committed "within three years of the date the current offense is alleged to have been committed" (Pen. Code, § 186.2, subd. (e)(1)). "Among other additional changes, the terms 'benefit,' 'promote,' 'further,' and 'assist' are now defined to mean providing 'a common benefit to members of a gang where the common benefit is more than reputational."" (*People v. Lopez* (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 1, 12, quoting Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (g).) The existence of a criminal street gang is a prerequisite to proving the enhancement. (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (f); *Lopez, supra,* 73 Cal.App.5th at pp. 345-347.)

The requirement that the predicate offenses commonly benefit the gang in a way that is "more than reputational" (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subd. (e)(1)) was not satisfied here. In his original appeal, appellant argued there was insufficient evidence to support the gang enhancements because appellant and Vidrio were members of rival gangs. (CT 93, 108.) Appellant was a member of Pomona Sur Locotes (PSL). (CT 98.) In discussing the gang evidence, the Court of Appeal noted appellant's jury heard that appellant "had been convicted of carrying a loaded firearm, committed in February 2013. It also heard that another member of PSL had been convicted of burglary, committed in January 2014." (CT 99.)

A gang expert testified as to a hypothetical involving the facts of the crime at issue that the shooting promoted each gang's reputation for violence. (CT 99, 113.) Thus, not only did the

expert's testimony involve *only* refer to reputational benefit to the gang, but there is no mention of any expert testimony regarding how the predicate offenses benefitted the gang. Based on the testimony the expert did provide, however, any testimony regarding benefit of the predicate offenses would not have been more than reputational.

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