No. S281488

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

OSCAR LOPEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E080032 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FWV1404692 The Honorable Bridgid M. McCann, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW

Lopez argues that review of the Court of Appeal's decision is warranted because it conflicts with Salgado, supra, 82 Cal.App.5th 376 and People v. Trent (Oct. 3, 2023, C096306)

Cal.App.5th ___ [2023 WL 6399045]. (PR 9, 15, 20-21; Oct. 5, 2023, New Authority Letter.) And in a September 25, 2023, letter urging review or depublication, OSPD, as amicus curiae, additionally points to People v. Ramirez (2019) 35 Cal.App.5th 55, People v. Garcia (2022) 85 Cal.App.5th 290, People v. Hargis (2019) 33 Cal.App.5th 199, and People v. Hughes (2019) 39 Cal.App.5th 886 as "conflicting" with the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case. None of these decisions, however, squarely conflicts with the Court of Appeal's decision below holding that the trial court was without jurisdiction to apply AB 333 in Lopez's case.

Salgado was decided on the ground that resentencing under former section 1170, subdivision (d) (now section 1172.1) effectively vacated the earlier judgment, rendering the entire judgment "no longer final." (Salgado, supra, 82 Cal.App.5th at pp. 378, 380.) It was not decided on the basis of the jurisdictional confines of a remittitur. And in *Trent*, the Court of Appeal held that vacatur of the defendant's murder conviction under section 1172.6 also rendered his gang-participation conviction nonfinal for purposes of retroactively applying AB 333 (*Trent*, supra, 2023 WL 6399045 at *6), a markedly different procedural posture from the one presented here.³

³ Senate Bill No. 1437 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.) "added section 1172.6, which provides a procedure for defendants convicted of murder to seek resentencing if they are able to establish they could not be convicted of murder under the amendments to sections 188 and 189 effective January 1, 2019." (*People v. Williams* (2022) 86 Cal.App.5th 1244, 1250.)

In Ramirez, the Court of Appeal accepted that the trial court was bound by the scope of a remand order but, rejecting the district attorney's argument, held that the trial court had not exceeded the scope of the remittitur by considering "any and all factors affecting sentencing," including Proposition 57's provisions regarding juvenile transfer hearings. (Ramirez, supra, 35 Cal.App.5th at p. 64.) Hargis held that Proposition 57 applied retroactively regardless of whether it exceeded the scope of a remittitur. (Hargis, supra, 33 Cal.App.5th at pp. 207-208.) But the *Hargis* court explained that it was presented with "unique circumstances" under which "a change in the law of such a fundamental nature ... intervened between a reviewing court's issuance of its opinion and the return of jurisdiction to the trial court through issuance of the remittitur." (Id. at pp. 205, 207.) Moreover, *Hargis* dealt solely with sentencing, not convictions or enhancement findings. (Id. at p. 208, fn. 4 ["Defendant is not entitled to a jurisdictional hearing, or the equivalent of a second trial, in juvenile court, however"].) And *Hughes* did not address the jurisdictional limitations of a remittitur at all. It held that the defendant was entitled to the retroactive benefit of a new mental health diversion scheme that became effective during the pendency of an appeal. (Hughes, supra, 39 Cal.App.5th at pp. 891-896.)

Garcia, supra, 85 Cal.App.5th 290 comes closest to conflicting with Court of Appeal's decision in the present case. It held that the trial court erred in failing to grant a continuance to allow the defendant to prepare a discovery motion under the

California Racial Justice Act of 2020 (Stats. 2020, ch. 317, § 1) (RJA), which applied retroactively to the defendant's case even though the case had been remanded only for specific sentencing corrections. (*Garcia*, at pp. 293, 297-298.) In so holding, the Court of Appeal noted that the RJA allows convictions and sentences to be challenged. (*Id.* at pp. 295-297.) The court's mention of convictions, however, was not necessary to the decision because the defendant there challenged only his sentence. (See *id.* at p. 294.)

To the extent there is some tension between the Court of Appeal's decision below and the cases pointed to by Lopez and OSPD, there is no square or entrenched conflict in need of this Court's resolution. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).) Nor is it likely that one will develop. In the respondent's brief below, the People did not advance the jurisdictional theory espoused by the Court of Appeal in its opinion, which Lopez and OSPD challenge on the merits as "not workable" and "confusing." (PR 9, 21; OSPD Letter 3-8.) And the People do not intend to do so in future cases.

Instead, the People argued below—and would maintain if review were granted in this case—that AB 333 did not apply to Lopez's convictions and gang enhancement because they were already final when AB 333 came into effect, even though his appeal had been remanded for resentencing. That position is supported by this Court's statements in *Padilla* and *Wilson*.

As noted, *Padilla* held that a new ameliorative law applied to the defendant's case, which had become final on direct appeal

before the new legislation was enacted but was later "reopened" on habeas corpus for purposes of resentencing. (*Padilla*, *supra*, 13 Cal.5th at pp. 158, 162.) In so holding, this Court stated that application of the new law in these circumstances "does not authorize or constitute relitigation of guilt." (*Id.* at p. 170.)

In *Wilson*, the defendant was convicted of capital murder and sentenced to death. (Wilson, supra, 14 Cal.5th at p. 844.) On appeal, this Court affirmed as to guilt but remanded for a penalty-phase retrial, after which Wilson was again sentenced to death. (Id. at pp. 844-845.) Thereafter, the Legislature enacted reforms to the law of murder, and Wilson sought to challenge the validity of his murder conviction on that basis in his appeal from the retried penalty-phase proceedings. (Id. at pp. 868-869; see former § 1170.95 (now § 1172.6), as added by Stats. 2018, ch. 1015, § 4 and as amended by Stats. 2021, ch. 551, § 2.) In addressing that claim, this Court explained that it had unanimously affirmed the judgment of guilt nearly 15 years earlier and that, for purposes of applying the new legislation retroactively, Wilson's murder conviction "would appear to have become final no later than 2009, when the time expired for seeking certiorari in the United States Supreme Court." (Wilson, at p. 870; see also *ibid.*, fn. 10.)

This Court pointed to *People v. Jackson* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 96, 98, which similarly held that new decisional authority did not apply retroactively to the guilt phase of a capital case that had "long before become final," even though the penalty phase was vacated on habeas corpus after the new authority issued.

(Wilson, supra, 14 Cal.5th at p. 870.) Nonetheless, because the People in Wilson assumed for purposes of the penalty-phase appeal that the defendant could seek relief as to his murder conviction under section 1172.6, subdivision (g), this Court "assumed without deciding" that the claim was properly raised. (Id. at p. 871.) It went on to conclude that Wilson was not entitled to relief under that statute. (Id. at p. 875.)

The Court of Appeal below, however, expressly rejected the People's finality analysis based on *Padilla* and *Wilson*. (Opn. 8 & fn. 2.)⁴ And there does not appear to be any conflict on that issue among the Courts of Appeal. Review is therefore not necessary to secure uniformity or settle an important issue with respect to that finality analysis. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).)

⁴ In the briefing in *Padilla*, the People resisted the appellant's alternative position that a noncapital judgment is separable between guilt and punishment for *Estrada* purposes and argued that *Jackson*'s reasoning was limited to "the context of the unique bifurcated nature of capital proceedings." (*Padilla*, No. S263375, OBM 34-36; see also RBM 9, fn. 2.) In this case, the People's position is based primarily on later pronouncements by this Court in *Padilla* itself and in *Wilson*.

CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.